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UNITED STATES O F AM ERICA

VS.

ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK,
a/k/a i<peter Candlewood,''

COLITH A PATRICE BUSH,
a/k/a GDiane Lane,''
a/k/a éfDiane Rice,'' and

RONALD BENNETT SHEPH ERD,

Defendants.
/

FILED by ' .C.

sEF 1 6 2216
STEVEN M LARIMORE
CLERK b b DIST cT
>. D. of f. L2. - Ml/Ml

INDICTM ENT

The Grand Jury charges that:

G ENERAL ALLEGATIONS

At all times relevant to this Indictm ent:

Rule 35 of the Federal Rules of CriminalProcedure allows the court, upon the

governm ent's motion, to reduce a defendant's sentence if the defendant is found to have provided

substantial assistance in investigating or prosecuting another person. Neither the governm ent nor the

court system charges inm ates or their relatives a fee for providing substantial assistance.

Plivate Services was a Texas corporation, with its principal place of business located

in Houston, Texas. The owners, operators, and em ployees of Private Services represented that the

company worked with a network of infonnants and law enforcem ent to identify and provide

information and third party cooperation to be credited to federal inm ates in Rule 35 proceedings.
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Defendant ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK was a resident of Fo14 Bend County, Texas,

and an owner and operator of Private Services.

4. Defendant COLITHA PATRICE BUSH was a resident of Fort Bend County, Texas,

and an owner and operator of Plivate Selwices.

Defendant RONALD BENNETT SHEPHERD was a resident of Harris County,

Texas, and an owner, operator and treasurer of Private Services. He was the sole signatory on the

Private Services bank account.

Victim 1 was a resident of M iam i-Dade County, Florida, and the relative of a federal

inmate. Victim 2 was a resident of M iam i-Dade County, Florida, and a federal inmate, incarcerated

in the Southern District of Florida.

COUNT 1
Conspiracy to Com m it M ail and W ire Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1349)

Paragraphs 1 through 6 of the General Allegations section of this lndictm ent are re-

alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

Beginning at least as early as in or around January 2015, the exact date being unknown

to the Grand Jury, and continuing tluough the date of this Indictment, in M iam i-Dade County, in the

Southel'n District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK,
a/k/a Rpeter Candlewood,''

COLITHA PATRICE BUSH,
a/k/a RDiane Lane,M
a/k/a RDiane Rice,M and

RONALD BENNETT SHEPHERD,

did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the objects of the conspiracy, and knowingly combine,

conspire, confederate and agree with each other and with others known and unknown to the Grand

Jury, to comm it the following offenses:
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to knowingly, and with intent to defraud, devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and

artitk e to defraud, and to obtain m oney and property by means of materially false and fraudulent

pretenses, representations, and prom ises, knowing that such pretenses, representations and prom ises

were false and fraudulent when made, and, for the purpose of executing the schem e and artifice,

knowingly causing to be delivered certain m ail m atter by the United States Postal Service, according

to the directions thereon, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sedion 1341., and

(b) to knowingly, and with intent to defraud, devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and

artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and property by m eans of m aterially false and fraudulent

pretenses, representations, and promises, knowing that such pretenses, representations and promises

were false and fraudulent when made, and, for the purpose of executing the scheme and artitice,

knowingly transmitting and causing to be transm itted in interstate com merce, by m eans of wire

comm unication, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, in violation of Title 18, United

States Code, Section 1343.

PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIM CY

lt was a pup ose of the conspiracy for the defendants and their co-conspirators to

unlawfully enrich them selves by obtaining m oney from relatives of federal inm ates incarcerated in

federal correctional institutions, by m aterially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and

prom ises concerning fraudulent substantial assistance services provided to secure the early release of

the inmates from their sentences in colmection with potential m otions for reduction of sentence under

Rule 35 of the Federal Rules of Crim inal Procedure.

M ANNER AND M EANS OF THE CONSPIM CY

The m anner and m eans by which the defendants and their co-conspirators sought to

accomplish the purpose and objects of the conspiracy included, among others, the following:

4. ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK , CO LITH A PATRICE BUSH and their co-
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conspirators, using aliases and false names, represented to Victim 1, Victim 2, and other inm ates and

fam ily m embers of inm ates in federal correctional institutions that the defendants owned, operated,

or were employed by Private Services.

ALVIN JAM ES W ARRTCK, COLITHA PATRICE BUSH and their co-

conspirators falsely and fraudulently represented that Private Selwices was associated with the federal

government, and prom oted them selves as individuals who utilized a network of informants who, in

exchange for the payment of funds from relatives of federal inm ates to bank accounts controlled by

the defendants, would provide third party cooperation under the supervision of 1aw enforcem ent, to

be credited to the federal inmates in Rule 35 proceedings.

6. ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK , CO LITHA PATRICE BUSH and their co-

conspirators required relatives of the federal inm ates to m ake periodic paym ents via cash, check, wire,

and electronic ftmd transfer, in order for the third party cooperation process to be conducted. The

payments were deposited into a W ells Fargo, N .A. bank account ending in -9450 in the nam e of

RONALD BENNETT SHEPHERD d/b/a Private Services ('tprivate Services bank accounf),

which was established on or about November 3, 2014. The account opening paperwork listed Private

Services as being in the Transportation and W arehousing industry.

ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK , CO LITH A PATRICE BUSH and their co-

conspirators provided false and fraudulent documents purporting to show agreem ents between U.S.

Attorney's Oftices, including the Eastern District of N ew York and the Southern District of New

York, and a company aftiliated with Pdvate Services.

8. The conspirators also used m ail, em ails, phone calls and other m eans of electronic

communications to update inm ates and relatives of inm ates by falsely and fraudulently representing

that substantial assistance was offered and provided to the governm ent on behalf of the inmates whose

relatives made paym ents to the defendants, when in truth and in fact no such substantial assistance
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was ever provided or offered to the governm ent on behalf of the inm ates whose relatives had m ade

paym ents to the defendants.

9. On or about January 17, 2013, ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK signed a United States

Postal Selwice Application for Delivery of Mail Through Agent tffFol'm 1583',) and an Application

for M ail Box, and submitted them to the W est Bellfort Postal Center in Houston, Texas. Thereafter,

owners and operators of Private Services directed m ail to 8544 W est Bellfort Street, #322, Houston,

Texas 77071, and received m ail at that address.

As a result of this schem e and artitk e, ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK , COLITHA

PATRICE BUSH, RONALD SH EPHERD and their co-conspirators received payments from

relatives of inm ates into bank accounts controlled by them , then withdrew the falsely and fraudulently

obtained funds for their personal use and benefit.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349.

COUNTS 2-8

W ire Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1343)

From at least as early as in or around January 2015, and continuing through the date of this

Indictm ent, in M iam i-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK ,
a/k/a ççpeter Candlew oodr''

CO LITHA PA TRICE BUSH ,
a/k/a i6làiane Lane,''

a/k/a i6Diane Rice,'' and
RONALD BENNETT SHEPH ERD,

did knowingly, and with intent to defraud, devise and intend to devise a schem e and artifice to

defraud, and to obtain m oney and property by m eans of m aterially false and fraudulent pretenses,

representations, and prom ises, knowing that the pretenses, representations, and promises were false

and fraudulent when made, and, for the pulpose of executing the scheme and artifice, did knowingly
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transmit and cause to be transm itted, by means of wire comm unications in interstate comm erce,

certain writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds.

PURPO SE OF TH E SCH EM E AND ARTIFICE

It was a purpose of the scheme and artifice for the defendants and their accomplices to

unlawfully enn'ch them selves by obtaining m oney from relatives of federal inm ates incarcerated in

federal correctional institutions, by materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and

prom ises concem ing fraudulent substantial assistance selwices provided to secure the early release of

the inmates from their sentences in colmection with potential m otions for reduction of sentence under

Rule 35 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.

SCH EM E AND ARTIFICE

2. Paragraphs 4 through 10 of the M anner and M eans section of this Indictment are re-

alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein as a descliption of the schem e

and artifice.

USE OF TH E W IRES

On or about the dates specitied as to each count below , the defendants, for the pup ose

of executing the aforesaid scheme and artitice to defraud, and to obtain m oney and property by m eans

of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and prom ises, did knowingly cause to

be transm itted by means of wire comm unication in interstate comm erce, certain writings, signs,

signals, pictures, and sounds, as more specifically described below :
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ALVIN JAMES E-malled Vlcttm 2, ln the Southern
W ARRICK District of Florida, about purportedJ

anuary 20,2 
and comm unications with Attorney General2015

CO LITH A PATRICE Loretta Lynch regarding Rule 35
BUSH cooperation proceedings for Victim 2.

Case 1:16-cr-20698-JAL   Document 3   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/19/2016   Page 6 of 14



CBG T è k ,AïlTtk.tl' x' ltstit ltyypjqklkkilllqltpillp'è'rpttR Nbu '' ' ' +ç.Ts INly'x'I4c!)4'' ''1o:'ttö#')'ru'R' t'. '' ': ' '!,.-'... .. .( . .-'-r-''-'è - ())(---t.-)- '-. lti; (
,-(
èyr7
j
èjy t ;.) 7j)rr, yt-tt 7y( C'k ttqtkq ). 'j tjiijji;p--yt t:;kiji

k
);y;-. ki!@@ 'w-'-'-'-''''ti.')- r 7: '-- )'-)i'( ) lhkëj'yjjjj )-'(-;-k-

(;()-) (t-(ty;,:k,j ,: (-ë.-y..-,) .::----,--r.---.:-.-ry)-r,;rr. .;-.-. - r .ï .-- . ...' .. ..t - .-.;è)-'è:k,-:-;..r-, f... ? g--.-. . . t : .)y--:),.#pq:.! è. t-èt-èt)tt )- .'y( )-- ..,. q#. .....) . .:)-y::'è7-l) r!Etj-ëj:,y
-

,j() ).) y. t ky . .. z. . --. . - yy.%-. 
C-''-' ..- -,'... -

.

-,:-.,:71-.- . . . ''i-' .'. '':-'-
-t '--'. - .' . . @ (;jjijkkj:jitj;lrjy-ëë- ....,--. . . . . . rrjiijj#-..' .' --- gII(rtjitji?q)j1t),' '-iq--- ' . t..- ; ,e. (k--'r)). - -kîk-è;')(L yrp )t)-?ë.- tt'i .... ?

-t
-
.-:!!. .) . . .. .)..

' 
).. të ...-- . .-.- .L.. . .. . '.ë''! . - pl'''-':':-. -. . . .- ..- .. ! . q : . , .-,. .j -i)-t-ll@.1i'. ''.- . - ... . . -E . . . . r , . (r. tt.tt)., ,1---- . ...,.'..,k- . - ... .- . ë.p , .-.... . ... .- Li ::-l!)!!1ikl.tiiiiiipki)i()IiI1211i4'--r . '. .. . i-lt.. .. . . . . . .. ( .. .. . . ër .. r:?:: rt'à . -k, :,y;), 'q- : jk, i-. -..

Text messaged inform ation for the
Plivate Services balzk account in TexasF

ebnzary 5, CO LITH A PATRICE3 t
o Victim 1, in the Southern District of2015 BUSH
Florida, for deposit of United States
currency into the account.
Called Victim 1, in the Southern District
of Florida, and left a voicem ail

February 5, COLITHA PATRICE regarding payments to be made by4
2015 BUSH Victim 1 in exchange for purported Rule

35 cooperation proceedings for Victim
2.

Called Victim 1, in the Southern District
February 13, CO LITH A PATRICE of Florida, and left a voicemail5

2015 BUSH regarding Rule 35 cooperation
proceedings for Victim 2.
E-mailed Victim 1, in the SouthernAI

,VIN JAM ES Di
strict of Florida, about purportedW ARRICK

February 18, comm unications with an Assistant6 
and20l 5 U

nited States Attom ey in the SouthernCOLITH A PATRICE
District of New York regarding Rule 35BUSH
coo eration proceedings for Victim 2.

ALVIN JAM ES C
aused an electronic transm ission in theW ARRICK

, amount of $5,000 f'rom Victim l , in theCOLITHA PATRICE
M arch 12, Southern District of Florida, to the7 BUSH

,2015 RO NALD BENNETT SHEPH ERD
and d/b/

a Private Services bank account inRONALD BENNETT
Texas.SHEPHERD

ALVIN JAM ES C
aused an electronic transm ission in theW ARRICK

, amount of $5,500 f'rom Victim 1, in theCOLITHA PATRICE
M arch 31, Southern Distlict of Florida, to the8 BUSH

,2015 RO NAI,D BENNETT SHEPH ERD
and d/b/

a Private Services bank account inRONALD BENNETT
Texas.SHEPHERD

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2.

CO UNTS 9-11
M ail Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1341)

On or about the dates specified as to each count below, in M iam i-Dade County, in the

Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,
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ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK,
a/k/a 6dpeter Candlewood,M and

COLITHA PATRICE BUSH ,
a/k/a GDiane Laner''

a/k/a tiDiane Rice,''

did knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and artifice to

defraud, and to obtain m oney and property by m eans of m aterially false and fraudulent pretenses,

representations, and prom ises, knowing that the pretenses, representations, and promises were false

and fraudulent when m ade, and, for the purpose of executing the schem e and artifice, did knowingly

cause to be sent and delivered certain mail matter by the United States Postal Service, according to

the directions therein.

PURPO SE OF THE SCHEM E AND ARTIFICE

It was a purpose of the schem e and artifice for ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK,

COLITHA PATRICE BUSH, and their accomplices to unlawfully emich them selves by obtaining

m oney from relatives of federal inm ates incarcerated in federal correctional institutions, by m aterially

false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and prom ises concem ing fraudulent substantial

inmates from their sentences inassistance selwices provided to secure the early release of the

connection with potential m otions for reduction of sentence under Rule 35 of the Federal Rules of

Crim inal Procedure.

SCHEM E AND ARTIFICE

Paragraphs 4 through 10 of the M anner and M eans section of this lndictment are re.

alleged and incop orated by reference as though fully set forth herein as a description of the scheme

and artitice.

USE OF TH E M AILS

On or about the dates specitied as to each count below , the defendants, ALVIN

JAM ES W ARRICK and COLITHA PATRICE BUSH ,for the purpose of executing and in
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furtherance of the aforesaid schem e and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property by

m eans of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and prom ises, did knowingly

cause to be delivered certain mail m atter by the United States Postal Service, according to the

directions thereon, as more particularly described below :
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Invoice sent from Private Services in Houston, Texas, to
February 25, 2015 Victim  1, in M iam i, Florida, regarding selwices purportedly

provided in connection with a Rule 35 for Victim  2.
lnvoice sent from Private Services in Houston, Texas, to

M arch 10, 2015 Victim 1, in M iam i, Florida, regarding services purportedly
provided in colm ection with a Rule 35 for Victim  2.

lnvoice sent from Private Selwices in Houston, Texas, to
M arch l 7, 2015 Victim 1, in M iam i, Florida, regarding services purportedly

provided in colm ection with a Rule 35 for Victim  2.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2.

FORFEITURE AI,LEGATIONS

The allegations of this Indictm ent are re-alleged and by this reference fully

incorporated herein for the purpose of alleging clim inal forfeiture to the United States of Am erica of

certain property in which the defendants, ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK, COLITHA PATRICE

BUSH , and RONALD BENNETT SHEPHERD , have an interest.

Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections l 341, 1343,

or a conspiracy to violate either of these sections, as alleged in the Indictm ent, the defendants shall

forfeit to the United States of Am erica any property, real and personal, which constitutes or is derived

from proceeds traceable to such violation, pursuant to Title l 8, United States Code, Section

98 1(a)(1)(C).
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A1l pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 98 1(a)(1)(C), and the procedures set

forth at Title 2 1, United States Code, Section 853, as m ade applicable by Title 28, United States Code,

Section 2461(c).

A TRUE BI1,I ,

FOREP S '

k p Qt zx,t- u, j
W IFkEDO A. FERRER
UN ITED STATES ATTORNEY

NNE P. M CNAM ARA

ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

10
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA CASE NO.

ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK et aI.

Defendants.
/

Court Division: (select one)

X Miami Key W est
FTL W PB

I do hereby certify that:

Superseding Case Information:

New Defendantts) Yes No
Number of New Defendànts
Total number of counts

l have carefully considered the allegations of the indictment, the number of defendants, the number
of probable witnesses and the legal complexities of the lndictment/lnfonnation attached hereto.

l am apare that the information s pu plied on this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this
d scheduling criminal trials under the mandate of the Speedy TrialCoul't ln setting their calendars an

Act, Title 28 U.S.C. Section 3161 .

Interpreter: (Yes or No)
language and/or dialectList

This case will take 7-9

Please check appropriate category and type of offense listed below:

(Check only one) (Check only one)

No

days for the parties to try.

1
11
11I
W
V

.6 Has this case been previously filed in this District Court? (Yes or No) No
lf yes:
Judge: Case No.
(Attach copy of dispositive order)
Has a complaint been filed in this matter? (Yes or No) No
lf yes:
M agistrate Case No.
Related M iscellaneous numbers:
Defendantts) in federal custody as of
Defendantts) in staty cpstody as of
Rule 20 from the Dlstrlct of
ls this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No) No

Petty
M inor
M isdem.
Felony

0 to 5 days
6 to 10 days
1 1 to 20 days
21 to 60 days
6 l days and over

X

X

Dpes this case originate from a matter pending in the Northern Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office
prlor to October 14, 2003? Yes No x

Dpes this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office
prlor to September 1, 2007? Yes No x

NNE . CN
ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
COte 'r 1D. No. A5501847

*penalty Sheetts) attached
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: ALVIN JAM ES W ARRICK a/k/a Gpeter Candlew ood''

Case No:

Count #: 1

Conspiracy to Comm it W ire Fraud and M ail Frxl!d

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349

*M ax. Penalties: 20 Years' lmprisonment

Counts #: 2, 6-8

W ire Fraud

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343

*M ax. Penalties: 20 Years' Imprisonm ent

Counts #: 9-1 1

M ail Fraud

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341

*M ax. Penalties: 20 Years' lmplisonment

WRefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: COLITHA PATRICE BUSH a/lk/a çtDiane Lane'' a/k/a RDiane Rice''

Case No:

Count #: 1

Conspiracy to Com mit W ire Fraud and M ail Fraud

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349

*M ax. Penalties: 20 Years' lmprisonm ent

Counts #: 2-8

W ire Fraud

Title 18, United States Code, Vqjipn 1343

*M ax. Penalties: 20 Years' lmprisonm ent

Counts #: 9- 1 1

M ail Fraud

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341

*M ax. Penalties: 20 Years' Impdsonm ent

WRefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole terms, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLO RIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: RONALD BENNETT SHEPHERD

Count #: 1

Conspiracy to Comm it W ire Fraud and M ail Fraud

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349

*M ax. Penalties: 20 Years' Imprisonm ent

Counts #: 7-8

W ire Fraud

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343

*M ax. Penalties: 20 Years' lmprisonm ent

eRefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole terms, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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